IV, THE ROADS OF THE TERRITORTAL PIONEERS

Resourcefulness aﬁd 1n1t1at£ve.have been the main
rellance of the people on the fringes of civilizatlon
throughout American history. A far—off.federal govern—
ment wight make efforts to protect these strays from
the fold from the depredations of Indians, and it might
appropriate funds from the federal treasury tc help
them to bulld theif staﬁehbﬁses,“their roads, and in-
deed, to pay the expenses of thelr government. But in
. the end, the determining factor in the eresctlon of an
American commonwealth on the outskirts of the Unlted
. States has been thelr ablllity to adapt to their néeds
the implements which they found at hand, It was so 1n
; Minnesota, Whlle the frontler territory was not averse
to accepting all that 1t could get from the federal gov-
ernment, and while it kept asking for more federal as-
slstance for its govermnenﬁ, 1ts bulldings, and 1ts
roads, yet the frontiersmen reallized that all tha£ the
federal government mlght do was but & small fraction
of what had to be done, |

The physical part of the road system of terrlitori-
al Minnesota had little from the past upon which to.
draw, A few stragglling wagon tralls in the St, Croix

| Valley, the warpaths of the barbaric Indlans, the cart
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tracks of the fur‘t}aders, and game trails ovér prai-
ries end through forests -- these constituted the physi-
cal ﬁeritage of the p}oneers. They had to start from
the beginnling to mark out roads on the pralries, to
chop out trailé through the forests, to buil@ up cause—
ways over the miry soll of the swamps., Thelr road sys%em
wa.s dnrever éhanging one, It grew as.the terrlitory
grew, expanded as the needs of an éver increasing popu-
lation lncreased, When the end of the territorial peri-
od appfoached, the road system was still far from belng
completely outlined, for much of Minnesota had yet to
- be Canuered_by the white ploneer, Always the story |
wes the same, On the frontier the ploneers cut out
rough trails; thelr brethren in slightly more settled
communitles improved these tralls; and the inhahitants
of the stiiiloldér-areas re-routed the roads along sec-—
- tion lines, cut down unseemly grades, and bullt better
bridges than the makeshifts which the ploneers had |
thrown across gtreams.

Throughout the territorial perilod, the leglslature
acted as gulde and co;ordlnator'for the pioneers; The
frontlier settlcménts were generally 1solatéd.1slande
1in the midst of a wilderness, and one of the chlef
- causes for discontent in such communitlies was their
~loneliness, If they wére located on naviéable rivers,
'their,;solationAwas rendered less acute during the'

summer months by the more or less regular calls of
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the éteémboats which plled the'upper ¥lsslssgippl ﬁiVer
and 1ts tributary étreams. Durihg the winter months °
and . periods of extreme drduth, however, they were en-
tirely cut off from intercourse with'one.another and
. with the outside world. It is notlsurppising, there-
fore, that they cleamored for a means of communication
that would be satisfactory at all seasons of the year.
The  editor of one terrltorisl newspeper pleaded, YRoads
are the veins and arterles of a state -- as egsentlal
to its exlstence as are the same organs to the animal
system. They are the avenues thro' which must flow
the enterprise and activity of its citizens, the life
| blood of its physical system." 1

It was the duty of the territorlal government'to.
gsee that these channels carrled the trade and commerce
__of the scattered frontier‘communlties in an unobstructed
flow.. The isolated settlements all too often were 1n-
capable of seelng that thelr well-belng was bound up
wlth that of rival towns, and it was the duty of the
" terrltorlal government to make sure that, 1in the open-
ing of roads which extended tﬁrough more than one coun-
ty, the best 1nterésts of éll the communities involved
were served, Thusg, the territorisl government could
order, upon petition, the opening pf a route through

two or more countles and could insure 1ts continuity,

1. St. Anthony Exoress, December 17, 1853.
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" This power, however, ﬁas‘conditioned by the pro#is&

'_that the petltion for a road had to be signed by twelve
householders in each county through which it was 1o
pass, and that they had to live in the vlcin;t& of the
propoéed road. The fugction of the territorlal govern-=
ment was an lmportant one, for it served to co-ordinate
the aotions of the counties and, when the general good
of the people demandéd 1t, to supplement them,

~  The populatlon of Einnesota grew slowly durlng the
first few years, The census of 1850 listed 6,077 in-
hebltants; in 1854 1t was estimated that there were
about 32,000 persons residing in the territory, The
increase, however, consisted mostly of accretions to
the pOpﬁlation of the maln centers, such as St. Paul,

' St. Anthony, and Stillwater. But during those yeara
the foundations were being lald for e great increase 1n
population that was to take place ln the last years of
the -territorial perlod, 1In 1851 treatlies were nego-
tiated at Travérse des Sioux and‘Mendofa which resulted
in the cession by the Indlans of their claims to a vast
srea of Minnesota west of the Mlsslssippl Rlver. The
treatles were ratified 1in the summer of 1852, and early
in 1853 steps were taken to survey the land for disposal

+t0 settlers., The ratification of the tresties and the

glowing descriptioné of the reglon that were published

in Minnesota newepapers centered a flood light of pub-~

‘1icity upon the Minnesota scene. The most spectacular
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manifestation of the results of this publicity was the
famous rallroad excursion of 1854; whigh‘celébr&ted the
openling of & rail link to the banks of the Mississippi -
River, The journey included an inspection of the rail~
road and a boat trip up the Mississippi River to St,
Paﬁl. Many important politlcal and literary figures
‘made the ﬁilgrlmage to the frontler, and thelr reports
helghtened a growlng interest in Mlnnesota and the North-
weat among the people In the older states, Although
. the early years of thé fifties were relatively quiet,
they were spent ln making ready for the influx of setur
tlers which all Minnesota enthusiasts were sure would
come when the possibilities of the new frontier were
known° Squatters encroached on tke unsurveyed lands
in the country which so recently had been Indian lands,
end townsalte booﬁers }aid out towns and got ready to
advertlse the sale of lots. Those who feached the
ground first sought to entrench themselves s0 as to
profi£ from the boom when it came, & A

The qulet growth of Minnesota durlng the early
fifties was also characteristic of the development of
the road systen. The roads which the federal govern—
ment had begun to build, while primarily.intended for
military purposes, were of great utility to the set-

‘tlers., Locally, the countles wldened the areas resched

2. Folwell, Minnesota, 1: 275-288, 352, 358, 360.



130

i.by'fheir'roede,and'in the absence Of a'grea# need for

a comprehensive system of roads, there was little activi-

ty on the pert of the territorial government° The leg~

‘ 1elature of 1849 authorized ‘the Opening of five territo-

riel rosds, all of which were Wlthin the 1limits of the
gettled srea. One of them extended from Stillwater, by
‘JQAy of White Bear Lake, to the mouth of the Rum River.

- Two roads from Point Douglas to St Paul were ordered

L ropened" one of -them by way of Cottage Grove, and the

other by way of Red Rock and Pig's Eye. 4 fourth road
followed the. east bank of the Misslssippi River from

the mouth of the Rum River to Crow Wing, and the fifth
,ohe.connected St, Peul and the eettlement of Little
Cansda, A charter permlitiing Frankllin Steele to operate
@ ferry across the Migsissippl at St. Anthony Palls Was
also granted. 3 fThe 1egisleture in 1251 was cpnstrained
by St. Anthony interests to open & road from St; Anthony
to Willow River, wisconsin, The road wes to cross the
St. Paul-qtillwater road where John Morgan had erected
his Halfway House, and was to gain access to Willow
River by means of the ferry acroes &t, Croix Lake which

‘the Wisconsin 1egislature in 1848 had authorized Willlsm

He Neblea to establlsh,

3. Laws, 1849, p. 96, 97 g8, 105, The Minnesote.
Chronicle and Register of St. Peul ‘for Decembel' 32,
1849, noted that tne roads hed been lald out. ‘

. 4, Laws, 1851, po 27. Morgan's tavern was located
about half way between St. ~Paul and gtillwater, The
Revised Statutes- of 1851 (p. 578) speclfiically exempted
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The legislature of 1851‘authorized\the establiéﬁ—
ment of two neﬁ ferries, ahd altered the charter granted
to Frenklin Steele in 1849, John Banfill, who had peti-é
tioned vainly-to the sesslion of 1849 for a charter, t
was granted the right to maintaln a ferry across the
_Mlsslssippi River at the mouth of Rice Oreek, a short

distance above Bt, Anthony, near what later came to be

known as Fridley, 1n Anokas County, A license was alsc —-7

granted to William A. Cheever for a ferry across the
Mieslssippl River Just below the Falls of St. Anthony,
nesr the presenﬁ site of the University of lMinnesota. 5
By'the timerthe next sesslion of the leglslature
met, the blcture was changing, for the Inc¢ian treaties
had been negotisated, ana already several hundreds of
land-hungry settlers had inveded the "Sulan@“ without
walting for the iand to be opened to settlement, They
clamored for the ratification of the treaties, and they
| ~worked feverishly for the opening of roads, As a con-
sequence, the legislature of 18563 authorized three of
these squatters, living on the banks of the Mlsslaslppl
Rifer, to'lay out a road from Read's Landing by way of
the high lands between the tributaries of the Wazlojle
river and those of the Mlssissippl and Cannon rivers,
from repesl the act of the Wisconsln leglslature grant-
ing to Nobles the right to establish a ferry scross
Lake St. Crolx at Willow River, The tovin of Villow Riv-
er is today known as Hudson, .

5. Laws, 1851, p. 39, 31, 37, Steele's new cherter
was of ten years'! duratlon, '
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by Okaman_Lake,'to such point on thelM1nnésota river
" @8 B3y .. « . be considered the most practicable." it-r
is & tribute to the leglslators' regerd for the law
that they added a proviso that the law should not teke
effect "unless the late Sloux treaty be ratified by |
Congress at 1ts present SBSSiono“ 6
| More actlve was the 1nterest shown during this
session in the establishment of ferries. The leglsla=-
ture passed thirteen bills granting new charters for
ferries and one modifying the terms of a charter pfe-‘
viously granted, Eleven of these were for ferries
across the Mississippl Rifer, and the remalning three,
scross the St. Croix. The majority of the charters
grented were for ferries along the upper portion of the
Mississippl ﬁiver, where settlements had already started,
Three of them; however, were intended to provide a means
of getting directly to the new trens-Misslssippl coun-
try from Wisconsin. One of these was for a ferry 8cross
“the river at what became the village of La Crescent,
 opposite La Crosse, Wisconsin; the second provided an
fndirect entrance at Oliver's Grove, or Hastings;_cnd
the third was deslgned to provide a connecting link
at the foot of Lake Pepin with the new territorial road
.rrom Read's Lgnding %o the Minnesota River, All four-

6. Laws, 1852, p. 57. The "Wazlojie river" 1s the
Zumbro River of today, end "Okamen Lake!" 1s Leke Elyslan

in Wasecs and Le Sueur counties. Upham, Geographic
Names, 301 559, . :
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teen ferries were desligned to perform an important

function 1n providing access to the'lahd and developing

the trade and commerce of the frontier country. 7

But the pioneers of the early fifties looked far—
 ther into the future, .They planned a bridge across the
Mlssissippl, and the legislatgre of 1858_1ncorporated
the Missiasippl Bridge Company and suthorized 1t to ‘
‘build a toll bridge near the Falls of St. Anthony, be-
tween Nicollet Island, above the falls; and Spirit
Islaend, below the falls, The capltsl stock of the

company wes set at $35,000, divided into 250 shares

7. Laws, 1852, p. 1, 5, 27, 28, 31, 39, 41-44,FC,53-
56, 59. The three ferrles chartered on the 5t, Croix
were at Taylor's Falls, Stillwater, and Willow River,
Wisconsin, Two charters were granted for ferries at
St. Paul ~- gt the Upper Landing and the Lower Lend-
ing -~ beth of which had heen operating under charters
granted by the commissioners of Ramsey County 1in 18465,
3ee post, p.221,238.Two charters were granted for fer-
ries in 5t, Anthony. On the upper Mississippl River
a ferry was authorized at the mouth of Swan River, where
the military road to Long Prairle crosssd the rilver;
other ferrles were chartered at Crow Wing, Seuk Repids,
and tkhe xnouth of the Crow River. After a charter bad
been granted to Anson Northup, Plerre Bottineau, Louls
Roverts, snd Peter Poncin for a ferry a mlle and &
half above the "upper rapids, at the Falls of S5t, An-
thony," 1t wes discovered that the locatlon was not the
one deslred by the petltioners. A new bill falled to
reach o vote before the sesslion sdjourned, Charters
for a number of ferrles were lost, including one to
Antolne Roberts for s ferry across the Rum River and
one to Captaln Wiillam B. Dodd for one across the Min-
nesota River, It is interesting, 1n connectlon with
bllls lost, 1o note that one for a territorial road
from St, Peul to a polnt opposite Fort Snelling was
refused, Presumably this was because the proposed
road would lie entlrely within the limits of Ramsey
County, and hence was & county undertaking. Minnesota
Pioneer, March 11, 1853, C
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'of $100 each .and the ternm of the charter was twenty
'years, If the bridge was not commenced within two years
. and comoleted within five years, the charter was to be
forfelted, and the leglslature, after fifteen years,
could assess a valuation, whlch the coméany was to De
compelled to accept, 1ln case the county or counties in ..
which the bridge was bullt wilshed to purchase 1t.

This bill was not passed on the spur of the moment,
It was the result of perslstent agltation and plannlﬁg,
begunlwhenlthe territory was first organlzed and kept
alive by the constant dinning of men like Jemes M. Good-
hue, Goodhue dreamed of such a bridge acroas the river
at St. Paul, and he visloned the great commerclal and
nilltary advantagés which 1t would bring to-the new
territory. It would focus there 21l the converglng
roads and raliroads of the ﬁation;-he predicted, and
make §t, Paul the gateway between the two great oceans,
But Goodhue wanted a “National bridge, to be free 1n
all coming time, for all but the enemies of our Deluvcd
country." Sooner or later, he declared, somethlng bete
ter than boats would be wanted to cross the Mississippil,
dividing the continent as 1% did, and he wanted the gov-
ernzont to make a2 grant of land, twenty miles square,
the proceeds from the sale of which'might be used for
a,bridgé fund, Goodhue!s plane were for a bridge at
-St. Paul, but the constructioﬁ of a bridge et St. An-

- thony had an obvious sdvantage, namely, thaet 1t would



not interfere with navigation, The editor of 2 st. |
Anthony newspaper prophesied‘thai éverdeollar of capi-~
tal invested in .such an'impfovement would "add ten—fold
to the value of property," © |

- The leglslature in 1853 authorized the relocatlon
of a portion of the road from Polnt Douglas to St. Paul
because ite origlnal location was ungatisfactory, but
1t was t0.be done on condition that none of the work
%ghall Dbe ai the expense of the Territory."™ The legis-l_
lature also authorized the relocatlon of the western
portion of the road from St. Anthony Falle to Willow
River, which had been orderod lald out the'previous
year, likewise wlthout addltional expense to the ter-
ritory. The constructlon of the mllitary road froml
Polnt Douglas to Lake Superlor opened an ettractive
vlista of trade té the towns along the Mlssleslppl River,
but St. Paul and St. Anthony felt that they might lose -
out on a great deal of this trade bécause they were
off the regular route of travel, To counteract the dls-
advantage of their locatlion, therefore, they pre}ailed
upon the 1egislatufe to authorize the constructlon of
e road from St, Anthony, by way of Chisago Lake, to _
Taylor's Falls or some point'on the‘militéry road |

8. Laws, 1852, p. 19-21; Mtnnesota D1oneer, Decem-
ber 12, 1849, December 25, 1851 St. Anthony Express,
February 21, 1852. Among the 1ncoroorators of the
bridge company were Henry M, Rice, Franklin Steele;

Henry H, Sibley, and John H. Stevens, all figures of
prominence in Minnesota.
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- south of that town, and'br'é branch road from St. Paul,
/J./’by way of Little Canada, to an intersection with the
/ St. Anthony-Taylor'!s Falls road. The expense of leying
out and constructing these roads was to be borne by
the counties through which they passed.
The problem of opening the way into the “Suland"
- was agaln at the fore durlng this sesslon of the legis—
lature, As a result, a road from St, Anthony Falls,
by way of ﬁhe'Saﬁmill which Simon Stevens had built on
the ghores of Lake ﬁinnetonka in 1852, to fhe western
boundary of S8lbley County was authorized, The leglse
laﬁure bound the territorial treasurer to pay the cost
of laying out thils rbad, prﬁvided that 1t would not
amount to more than & hundred dollars, The road was
" intended to open a rduté, not only to the "Suland,"”
but to the ﬁew fort on the upper Minnesota River as
well, 10
The leglslature of 1853 was not dlsposed to act
upon epplications for ferries, and consequently not
e charter was_gran’cedu I£ is ;ndlcativa 6f the inter-
est in the new terrlitory west of the Mlssissippi River,
end the eagerness offthe.pioneers to get to 1t,_that
three bille for ferry charters across the Minnesota
Rlver wefe introduced, two of which requested locatlons
9. Laws, 1853, p. 56, 60 62; Weekly Hinne;otlan,
Jurie 18, 1853,

10, Lews, 1853, p. 55; Upham and Dunlep, Minnesota
,Blohranhies, 743..
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at Traverse des Sioux. The squatters upon thé,"Sulépd"
were also sufficlently numerous. to agit&te‘fof the opon-
ing of a road from the Cannon River country to Fort |
Ridgely. This, too, was denied‘them,.ll |
By the time the nexti legialature met, the boom 1ln

the HSuland® was well under way,. 'The-first landé sold
in this new domain were sold by the federal government

during the spring, and they were located 1in the town- j
| ships along the Mississippl River in the southeastern
portion of the territory; nevertheless, the ploneers
were moving into the cholcest spots in the interior.
At the forks of the Cannon and Stralght rivers, the vil-
lage of Farlbault was being settled. Along the Minne-

sota River, Bloomington, Shakopee, Traverse des Sioux,

Mankato, and s score of other towns were beglnning a
mushroom-like gréwth, wnich, the following year, became
s boom, When Congress, in 1854, extended the right of
pre-emption to the unsurveyed lands of the west, the
equatters were made secure 1in thelr tenure. When thelr
lands were brought up for sale, they had only tb pay tﬁe

minimum price of $1.25 per acre, end no man could bld

egainst them,

11. These bills are Council Flle numbers 4 and 8,
and House File numbers 9 and 37, They are-in the non-
- eurrent archives of the decretary of state's office,
which are in the custody of the Minnesota Historilcal -
Soclety, Most of the leglslatlve bllls cited may be o N
found in those archives, Unless they are filed else-
where the 1ocation of bills will hereafter not he
designated.
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"' The rqadxbetween'Lake'Pepin and the Minnesota-Riv-

-er was 1aid out by tke end of October, 1852, It led

¢rom Read's Landing westward to Faribault and Traverse

des Sioux, and thence along the. west bank of the Minne=~ .

sota to Mankato. Not to be outdone by their rivals at

" Remd's Lending and Wabasha; the ambitious members of

the Rollingstone colony, near the site of present-day )
Winona, and the settlers at Bonnell's Landing, opposlte

lLa Crosse, determined to open roads of their own to

'theAM1nnesota River, even though they did nct have leg-

1glative sanction. By the summer of 1853 they were
promlsing that thelr roads would be opened befors fall.
The road ffom st,, Anthony Falls to the western boundary
of Sibley County was opened ln the summer of 1853, I£
éxtended from St. Anthony Falls, by way of Minnetonka
and Henderson, sanother new town on thé Minnesota Rlver,
westwardxto-Fort Ridgely. Confemporary accounts do not

praise the condition of the road, but it was passable,

. for a stage llne between st., Paul and Fort Ridgely was

operated over it, 13

Minnesota settlers had cause for fretting when
they-cdnsidered the lnadequacy of thelr means of com-

munication during the winter months., In the summer

12. Minnesota Democrat, June 30, July <8, QOctober 20,
1852, July 13, 1853; HMinnesota Ploneer, October 21, De-
cember 9, 1852, June 9, August 18, 25, December 1, 1853;
Weekly Minnesctlan, July 17, 1852; St. Anthony Express,
July 1, Yesexper 31, 1853.. o
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the steamboats plying on the Mississippl River brought
the frontier its supplies, its mall, and 1£srvisitors.'
But the river was frozen over for four or fi%e montﬁsr
of the year, and then the frontier was slmost complete-
1y 1solated. A road from Prairie du Chien to Willow
Ri#ér was opened on the Wlsconsln side df the river in
1848, and this rough; roﬁndabout road was Minnesotats
'aole iand route to the outer world., But the Minnesota
ploneers were determlned to open a more direct route

to the-settled country to the south, They were silded

by the businessmen of Dubuque who foresaw that ﬁ great
deal of their buslness wlth the upper river country
would be sacrificed to Preirie du Chien unlees steps
were taken to create a more favorable route of travel
toward the northlsnd. In March, 1852, John Wakefield

of Dubuque suggested to the editor of tke Mlrnnesote
Bioneer that Minnesotzns and Dubuque bueginessmen co-
operete to open a road, A number of foutes were suggeset-
ed for this road, One plen was to extend the militery
road along the west bank of the Misslsslppl from Wabasha
to the Iowa liné, where it would meet a road from Lan-
sing., Another proposed route led northward from Decorah.
There was also egltatlion for a road followlng the val-
leys of the Red Cedar énd'SLraight rivers to Faribault,
from which plsce there ﬁas already a wagon road to
Mendota that had been used for almost thirty years by

the traders at Alexander Faribeult's post. Alternative
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routes from Fort Atkinson fo Mankato; and from bubuéue :
to-Mankato or Traverée des Sioux were urged by the pro- -
moters of these embryc towng. 13
The leglslature of 1854 authorized the laying out

of two'roads—leading toward Dubuque. One of them was
' to extend southwerd from Reed's Landing to the Towa
line, The other provided a route followlng the old trad-
ing road to Faribault, then up the valley of the Straight
River "to a point on the Iowa line, in the directlon of
Fort Atkinson,"‘ The road from Read's Landing to the
Iowa liné required, according to'contemporany ldeas of
road making, less than thirtj—five miles of roed ocon-
struction. For the remainder of the distance, it was
claimed, thére_glready exlsted roads or natural trails.
A triweekly mall was ?rdmised over this route, and one
witnese was foﬁnd who decléred that he had driven heavi-
ly loaded teamé’bvef the major portion of 1t, On March
11, 1854, é-Dr. Andros, of Garnavillo, Iowa, completed
what was halled as the first ovefland trip by team from
Ioﬁa to St; Paul; demonstrating the feaslblllty of the
‘-road. The mall line was contracted for by Joﬁn Frink and

Company, and wés scheduled to begin on July 1, 1854, 14

13, Yinnesotz Ploneer, March 4, July 1, 8, 22, August
5, 86, September 9, 23, October 7, 14, 28, 1853, April
7, 18%3- Wlnnesota Democret March 34, August 4, Septem-
ber 22, 1852,
14, Laws, 1854, p. 64, 69; Minnesota Ploneer, Janu-

ary 5, 1854; Mlnnegots Democrat March 1R, July 19, 1854;
Weekly Minnesotian, January 7, 1854 Dale_Minne otlan,
June 1, 1854, - :
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Meanwhile, the Straiéht River ?alley road was being
lald out, and Alexander Faribault claimed that there ﬁ
would be no difficulty in driving a team over it even:
before any work was done, The claim seems to have been
Justified, for the commissioners who lald: out the roead
reported that they met & traln of nearly thlrty wagons
filled with Norweglans bound for Treverse des Sloux and
Menkato, who were bringlng with them & hundred and fifty
head of cattle; and during the course of a slngle day's
Journey they saw two hundred emigraﬁt wagons enroute to
Minnesota, The commlssloners placed stskes in the prai-
rie sod at regular intervels, and returned; relying upon
the wheels of followlng emigrant wagons to mark more
~ permanently the emigrant trall which they lald out. 18
Vhen the mail iine was estebllished, however, it
. Tollowed nelther of these.routes. On July 18, 1854, the

Dally Minnesotisn announced the arrival in St. Paul,

two days earller, of a Frink and Walker stage, the first
of a& "regular line" that was sbout to be established
between St, Paul and Dubuque, It had followed a route
plcked out by the agents of the company, which was approx-'
imately midway between the two roadg opened by authority
of the legislature. It entered Minnesota at Elllota and

passed through Carimone, Chatfleld, Rochester, dronqco,
15, St, Paul Dally Times, June 30, July 6, 24, 1854;

Daily ¥lnnesotlan, June 30, July 7, 18q4 Nlnnesota meo—
crat, July 1z, 18“4 hlnnesotc Ploneer, January 5, 1854,

e
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snd Caﬁnon Falls to Sf}rPaul. Reguiar‘mail-stage serfiée
was begun late 1in Auguét, énd the route became s0 popu~
isr that the leglslature of 1855 authorized the estab-
‘115hmen£ of & new territorial roed from St. Peul to El-
liota. 16

'Thése rosds performed two very 1mportant‘£dnctions. ‘
They provided an all-Minnesota communication with the |
Iowé communities, and they ;lso furnished a means of
getting into thé fertile areas of the #gulend,? The
ehergetic citizens of Mankato added snother route into
the "Sulsnd" by laying out a road southward to Fort
Dodge. Another'road that opened up a large area to
settlement was built by the citizens of Traverse des
8ioux, who, £a11ing to get leglslatlve sanction for a
road from their town to For£ Ridgely, took up subscrip~
tions and builb one an&way, thereby entefing into &
spirited rivelry with Menkato and Henderson for the profit-

gble business of trangporting supplies 1o the garrison. 17

16. St. Paul Dally rimes, July 19, November 22, 1854;
Daily Minnesole Proneer, December 1, 13, 1854; Minnosota
Democrat, August 30, December 1%, 20, 1854, Janusly 3,
August 22, 18055; Dally Minnesotlan, July 18, December 9,
12, 19, 20, 1854, January =27, March 1, 16, Hay 5, July
26, 1855; Laws, 1855, p. 142, The new route proved pop-
ular for all kinds of iravel, . Burbank’s €Xpress line
. eadopted 1t 1n December, 1854, and the number of privale
§ " conveysnces that followed L1t was enormous, An interest- .
i ing feature of thls road was a lighthouse which was
| erected at Elllota to gulde travelers along the pralrie

- road,. Dally Minnesotien, Merch 1, 1855, o
; 17. Minnesota Democrat, November 17, 1852, April 5,
1854; YWegkly ¥innccotlan, August 8, 1853; Minnesoba
Ploneer, April 20, 1854, .
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A new east and west road from Red Wing to Fort Ridgely
was guthorized_by the legiélature 1h 1854, By the end
of July, the cltizens of Red Wing had made a road to
Faribault, From that noint 19 the Minnesots River,
they followed the Read's Lending—;raverse des aioux

' road which had been lald out the previous yesr, and
from Traverse des Sloux to Fort Ridgely the rcad re-
cently opensd by the people of Traverse des Sloux.

Thus they opened a line of communlcatlon between Red
Wing and the frontler outpost. In spite of the aglits-
tion of the previous two yeasrs, however, no territorial
rosd was lald out.westward from Winona. The people of
‘Winona, therefore, on thelr own initlative undertook to
Euild e connection with the mall-stage line which ran-
‘on the Elliota rosd. ° To ald the new towns on the
west side of the Misslssippl River, the leglsleture
'éuthorlzed the openinglof a road from Minneapolia along
the west side of the river to Sauk Rapids., Another
road whiéh caﬁe,to serve a vital need was'ordered 1zid
out from St, Paul to Shakopee, and thence to Traverse

des Sioux, 1°

When the frontler financiers saw that the Missls-
sippl Bridge Company would turn out to be a profitable
investment, they were easily persuaded of the financlal

possibilities of other bridges'in the territory. Con-
18. Laws, 1854, p. 4E, 46; Dally minnecotisn CJuly

25, 1854 #iinona Renublicun, December 11, 1858,
19. Laﬂs 1854, p. 53, 68,
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séquently,_the 1egiélaturé in 1854 1ncorporated_thfee 7
‘.néw bridgs compaﬁies, The Minnesota Bridge Compahy

' was authorlzed to construct a toll bridge across;the.
Mississippl River not more than two miles below the

. Falls of St. Anthony nor less than one mlle from the
Mississippl Bridge Company's structure, Tke franchlse
was to run Tor thirty-five years, and at the end of

that tlae the bridge'was to become & free bridge and

the propexrty of the county or countics in whlch it was
butlt, Goodhue's dream of a bridge across the Missis-
sippl River at St. Paul approached a stcp closer to
realization in 1854, The leglslature ;ncorﬁorated the
St. Paul Bridge Company and authorized it to build a
bridge across the river within the clty, which, after
thirty—five'years, was to become the property of Ramsey
.and Dakota couﬁt;es,'.An unusual feature of thls charter
was the inclusion of & clause permitting the city of

gt. Peul or Ramsey and Dakota countles to purchase a
portlon of the stbck, provided that‘tha péoPle voted

in favdr of such an expenditure, The other toll bridge
authorized by the legilslaturc of 1854 was to be con-
structed over the St. Croix Rlver at Taylorts Falls.
Here ageln e proviso was made for the sale of thé brldge
to Polk County in Wisconsin and Chisago County in Minne—
sota in case 1t was desired to make 1t & free bridge,

but the price could not be more than the total cost,




145

i

‘plus fifteen per cent, 80

There were, therefore, fourlschemes for converting
toll bridges into free bridges. The first method pro~

vided for the determination of value at a later date

by the leglslature, as shown in.the charter for the M1 g
sisslppl Bridge Coupeny at St. Anthony, The second
method provided for the purchase of bridge stock by the
county or local governments concerned, as in the case
of the St. Paul Bridge Company., The third method, which
was used in the case of thé Minnesota Bridge Company,
providéd that the toll bridge be converted into a free
bridge, without further recompense to the bullders,
after thirty-five years, The last methoa fixed a ﬁaii—
~mum price before the bridge was éonstructed. It is
evident that the trend in Minnesota was towsrd the
. construction of free bridges, rather than permwanently
owned, private toll structures, Private capltal was
utlilized to bulld bridges, the constructlion of which
would have been postponed for many years, if it had
been necesgsary to walt untlil sufflcient_funds could be
ralsed by public tgxation to pay for them,

The optimlsm of the men who undertook to bulld
these bridges wae not unfounded, The bridge over the
Mississippi at the Falls of Sﬁ. Anthony_was a startling

finencial success, The surveys for 1t were made durlng

20. Laws, 1854, p, 72-75, 87-89, 101.
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'tﬁé fall of 1853, and construction of 'a suspenaidn
bridge with a span of 630 feet, costing §36,000, was
begun the next spring. Cn Decembér 5, 1854, it was
opened torfoot passengers, and on January 23, 1555,

the structure was thrown open to traffic. The event

WQS‘the occaslon of & celebration, for the bridge was
the first ons ever bullt ecross the Mississlppl Riirer°
Between five and six hundred persdns gathered fo Join
in the celebration, and over & hundred sleighs formed
1n line to cross 1t Two months later, on March 25,
i858, the bridge collapsed 1in a terrific windstorm,

but with doguzed persevérance the owners procesded to
-repair and rebuild it, and on July 4 it was agaln ready
for travelers, The first day, the proprietors reported,
the toll recelpts amounted to about seventy dollars.
During the reméinder_of July the totel recelpts of the

- bridgé'cOmpany reached the surprising sum of $1,4823,

The §L.jAnthdny Express jubilantly volced the general
opinlon thst the bridge was dolng more to ald travel
snd communlcatlon than the old ferry ever could have .

done, and added that Hthere can be but 1little doubt-

but the stock will pay well enough." That fall the
rbridge wa.s feoorted tb be peylng a twenty—four per
 cent dividend, and for 1856, the bridge company Ire-

ported, the b“ldgq t0lls totaled fypwards of $19,000." a1

21. Uipneaota Pioneer, Neovember 24, 1853; Dailz Min-
nesota c1one°r, December 4, 1354, March 28, 1855; Daily -




147

4

The completion of this bfidge spurred on the ef-
forts of the incorporators of the bridge companies formed
in 1854. In the winter of 1858 the bridge at Taylor's

Falls, & structure 150 feet 1ohg,‘wa§ opened to traffic.
In 1ts first year it paild a dividend of twenty per cent
to the stockholders, which was declared to be "doing
very well for a new country.," 22 The proprietors of the
Minnesota Bridge Company and the St, Paul Bridge Com-
pany had difficulty in getting ﬁheir work started.' The
legislaturelin 1856, therefore, obligingly extended the
time 1imit within which they were required to begin
'work or eise forfelt their charters. The Minnesota

. Bridge Company completed 1ts structure 1n April, 1857,

y

“thereby openlng a new approach to 16 west side of the
: .

river, Work was begun on the S5t. Paul bridge in 1856,

Ploneer and Democrat, March 14, 1857; St. Anthony Ex-
press, December 9, 1854, January 13, 37, March 31, July’
7, August 11, September 29, 185%5; Daily Mlnnesotlan,
Jenuary 18, November 26, 1855; Mlinnesota Democrat, Feb-
ruary 28, 1855, The organizatlon of the bridge company
was effected on October 25, 1853, The company at first
planned to bulld a frame abutment type of bridge, but the
englneer in charge of construction persuaded them that
a suspensicn bridge could be bullt within the limits of
thelr capltel. St. Anthony Express, December @, 1854,
The sccount of the celebration of the bridge opening
occupied alinost the whole issue of the St. Anthony Ex-
press for January 27, 1855,

22. Saint Croix Unlon, November 3, 1855; Dally Pil~
oneer gnd Democrat, December 289, 1856; Warner and Foote,
eds,, Wascinzton County, 206, The Unlon stated thet
the Chisago County suthorities were taking bids for the
bridge, that the probable cost of the structure would
be about $4%,000, and that the contractor took stock
valued at $1,500 in partial payment for hls work.
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bﬁfffﬁé égnégéétor'went thfough bénkruﬁtcy théé'féil,
and”%he;company slmost lost the money it had 1nvested
With dlfficulty the proprietors salvaged their stock
end’ obtalned the gservices of a new bridge builder. By
Deceﬁ%gr, 856; thé ﬁiers had been erected, and the |
suparstructuré was.about-to be put 1n place, when thaﬂ :
contééétér“failedg- The undertaking was a blg one for
thatfééy:i-:the estimated cost of the bridge-was between
$lld;60diéﬂdv$izo,000 -- but it was so 1mportan£ ﬁhat _(
_evéfﬁxéffarfrﬁés made to keep thé work goiﬁg.lWhenxé‘
1ac£'befUﬁd§'éga1n halted the work in Augﬁst, 1857,
howev%ii;tiﬁ ﬁ;oprietors almost gave up, for theif_
efforts fb;oftaiﬁ funds were unavailiné e meh-wiﬁh
money would invest only when they had a guaranﬁeé of
three per cent per month,

-;@ﬁe:iégisiature, however, had provided the gern of
an 1dé4 féf‘saving the company when 1t 1ncorporated in
ite charter the clause permitting St. Paul and Ramsey
or Dakota counties to purchase stock, In desppration
the prOprietors asked the city to lend its credit to
insure the completion of the brildge., To do this, how=-
everﬁ i%%l%iéfive sanctlén hed to be obtainsd and

accordlngly, the first leglslature of the state of Min—

. nesota granted ‘permlssion for holding an election 1n

St. Paul 1o vote on ‘the question of lending the credit -
| of the clty to the bridge company. The result of the

| _electfdn on” Marcn 24, 1858, was ovarwhelmingly 11 favor
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of the measure, and, w;th the bonds of the city as
'securlty, the company had no difficulty in nezotlating
with eastern capltalists for funds to complete the bridge,
The structure crossed- the Mississippi at Webashs Stréet,
| and 1ts length from one abutment to the other waé i,BOO
feet., There were nine plers, the hiéhest of which was
seventy feet above low water, and they were placed faf,
enough apart to permit the widest log rafts,td,pass.

The roadway conslsted of two tracks with footpaths, and

-1t was bullt on a flve per cent grade, with the lower
end on the West St. Paul side of the river, A visitor
to St. Paul 1n 1864 described it as "a most dlatressing-
ly untraditional bridge, all on the oblique and very
awkward, like a grest clumsy fire-escape propped up

agalnst a high well," a3

During the years from 1854 to 1858 Minnesota was
attalning the maturity of statehood, and 1its §0pu1athn | W
¢xpended from en estimated 33,000 to a probable 160,000, ﬁ
Iﬁ 1854 the occupation of the great "Suland" was an

1deslist's dream; by the end of the territorial perlod

23. Laws, 1856, p. 75, 107, 1858, p., 168-171; Dally
Pionesr gnd Democrst, December 8, 1856, April B, 21,
25, September 5, 15, 1857, March 17, 34, 25, April 25,
May 13, 20, 1858; Bertha L. Hellbron, ed., "aAn English
Vieitor of the Clvil Wer Perlod,' in Minnesota History,
9: 284 (September, 1928), The St. Paul bridge was coi-
pleted in the summer of 1859, Common Counclil of the
City of st, Paul, Proceedings, 1860, p. 109-111. In
1874, the bonde of the city for the bridge having been -
redeexced, 1t became & free bridge, Williaws, Salnt
Paul, 449, ' . ‘
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3§t wag reallty. In 1854 the treding posts a1ohg the = -
E upper Missis@ippi,niver were just beginning to tske on.

the semblance of frontier towns; by 1858 such commup14

tles as Anoka, Elk River, St. Cloud, sauk Repids, and

.ﬁittle Falls were flburishing business centers for an
 ever-expanding trading aree. At the heed of Lake Superi-
or the Beglnnings,of nodern Duluth and Superlor were

ade in 1853 and 1854, By 1868 those villeges had a

firm foothold. The St. Crolx Valley, the oldest part

of liinnesota in point of years of occupation by white

gettlers, was a flourishling farming and lumberling cen-

ter., Frontier real estate promoters at the end of the

territorial perlod were leying out townsltes in the

fertile valley of the Red River, and the missionsry and
trader frontiers were mc?lng Westward-énd northward, A
vast portion of northern and western Minnesota wae still

unoccupled in 1858, but the inltlal frontler stage 1n

the development of gconomic life was a thing of. the
- past in the great sgricultural districts of eastern and
soqthern Minnesota.

During the boom years the territory found thet its
preparations for settlers, including rosd facilities,
were pitifully 1nadecuate. To megt the emergency, the
' 1egislature of 1855 authorized the Opening‘bf thirty~
eight roads, while the-next gsesslon ordercd nlnety-nine
territorial roade lald out. Botk the regular and special

B sessions of 1857 were. prnoccupied with the impenain5
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problems of statehood, and only one of the score or
more of road bllls that were introduced was passed,
‘The road was to extend from the Big Sicux Rivér-a,
short distance above Sloux (ity, along the Missouri Riv-
er to a point opposlte.the mouth of the Running Water
Rlver ~- on the present-day line between Nebraska and
South Dakota where the Mlssourl River dips farthest to
the south, 9%
To keep pace wlth the expanding road system, the

legislature granted nlneteen ferry charters in 18585,
and in 1856 thirteen bills chartering forty-five ferries
were passed., The regular sesslon of 1857 granted ferry
charters to five companies, and the extra session, in
the flurry to clean up unfinished territorial business,
authorized thirty-six more, The majJority of the charters
granted durlng those three years were for ferrles across
streesms well within the limlts of the future state, but
the extra sesslon of 1857 stepped outside those limlits
to accommodste travelers through the still unsettled
west, Three charters were for ferries across the Red

34, Lsaws, 1855, p. 49-53, 1856, p. 119-152, 1857,
extre session, 318; Esther Jerabek, comp., A Blb-
llography of “innesots Territorial Documents, “1tems
463, 490, 527 539, 542, 543, 5b3, 589, 595, 596, 603,
604 €07, 616, 635, 651, 657, 658, 663, 727, 753, 786
(Minnesota Historical Soclety, Speciel Bulletins, no.
3 -~ 5t. Psul, 1938). No part of the cost of laylng
out or constructing the road from the Blg Siocux to the
Missourl Rlver was to be borne by the territory. The
reason Tor thils careful excluslon of expense wes the

imininence of stetehcod. It elready was certain that
the western boundary of the state of Minnescta would

be east of the esstern terminus of this road
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River, and two, for férries across the Big:SiOuk-River.
farther west, a ferry across the James Rlver was author-
'ized, and provision was made forrthree ferries across
the Missourl Rlver._85
At thé-saﬁe time, the territory wds moving as rapld-
1y as possible to provide adequate bridges. Fifteea
bridge companles were lncorporated durlng this three-
“year perlod, most of which were for structures 20r0Bs
the Mississippli ané St. Croix rlvers,- One compahy was
incorporated to build a bridge across the Zumbro River
" in Wabashe County, snother was authorized to build across
"the Elk River, and a third, across the Minnesota River
in Le Sueur County. Few of these were complétéd during
the territorial period. The bridges at the Falls of
St, Anthony were operating with great financial success,
end so was that over the St. Croix, At Watab Anson ,
. Northup completed his bridge by the fall of 1857, and at
. Little Fells the bridge of the Little Falls Kanufactur-

1né Company was opened., One newspaper comnmentator 1in

} 1857 ‘clalmed that ten bridgesfover the Misslsesippl above

St, Louis were completed, or 1n process of constructlion,

26, Lews, 1855, p. 20-32, 34, 70-72, 80, 91, 96, 93,
. 115-117, 119-133, 134-137, 143, 145, 151, 185, 1856, p.
| '154-17%, 1857, regular session, 154-156, 214, 333, 326-
| 228, 268-270, 1857, extra sesslon, 62-66, 159, 182, 203,
212, 225, 296,

26, Lzws, 1856, p. 233, 261, 1857, regular sesslon,

. 282; Deily Pioneer and Democrst, Harch 17, 1858; Winona
. Republlican, October 28, 1857; Chatfield Republicsn,
- March 21, 1857, ‘ '

26
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Undoﬁbtediy a grest many of the roads which . the
leglslature, during the last three years of the ter-
ritory, ordered opened could have.been_opened by the

united action of the different counties affécfed withdut
| -3 legisiative act, Many of them probebly were authorized’
tc enable political leaders to repay their supporters,

To disiqterested spectators, the activity of the leg-~
1slature in laylng out roaGs during 1855 snd 1856 ssemed
unjustifiabtle, and one of thew compared the leglelature
to a "commlssioners' court." Yet, the rush of settlers
into the territory justified the activity. 4 great por-
tion of tke country was still insccessible to home seek-
. ers, but, in those reglons where there were roads into

the hinterland, settlement grew repldly, One, contemporary
observer, writing & brief historical sketch of St.'Ané
thony st the beginning of 1854, commented that "the
settlement of Minnesota has thus far been confined to

the principal rivers, and to the shores of that. beautl-
ful serles of Lakes, known under the general name of
Minnetonks, There ig probably not a farm-house, or
cab£n of a whitse mén, at a dlstance of ten miles from
navigable water, in the whole Territory.! a7

Before the rush of immigretlon got under way in
the middle fifties, the principal arteries of travel

from north 4t¢ south and from east to west had been cut-

Y

87, Seint Peter Courler, February 12, 185b St. An-
hony Express, January 28, 1854, _
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lined 1ln the squtheastern portlon of the territbfy,_
and the organizédicounties did their share 1ln Opening :
.- local roads;.'Consequentlj, incoming settlers suffered
- leoss from_ﬁhe 1ack.of rords then pessimlsts thought.
Other portlons of the territory were less prepared to
eare for settlers, however, luch of Minnesota north of
the terrltorial capltal was as effectively blocked off
,és‘though a stone wall stood ig the way. The federal
government, 1t 1s irue, was pledged to bulld military
roads northward to Lake Supcrior and northwestward to
Fort Rlpley. But progress on these roads was élow,
and at best they offered access to but a small portion
of the country., The old Red River tralls to the western
B areag were called upon tb supplement the exlstlng roads,
opening for settlement the erea through which they passed, -
The settlers at the head of Lake'Superiof clamored for
haste in opening the Point Douglas~St, Louls River road,.
and, when their pless falled to effect actlon, taey
opened a r§ugh'road of their own., The clitizens of St.
Paul and St. Anthony,'eqﬁally eager for the completion
of tﬁé.mllitary road, begen to reach out with'a series
of territorlal roade which they_persuaded the.legisla— :

ture tc authorize, The 1egié1ature of 1853 hed sanc-

tioned the openlng of a road from St. Anthony Falls end
8t, Paul northward to Taylor's Fells, where it was to

join the militery road and divert to the two towrs a

portion of the trade which Minnesotans felt would dévelop
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over the lake route as soon as the Sault Ste. Marle
Ganal was opened, New rocads té tap this.feeervoir of
trade were authorized by thé leglslature in 1854 and
agaln in 18585, 28 |

In the fall of 1854 a number of St. Paul men set
out on thelr own inltiative to explore.a‘route to Lake
Superior, A practicable road, they claimed, could be
ﬁade alonz a route about fifty mlles long extending
through Little Canade and the "Rice Lakes" in south-
eastern Anoka founty to Griandstons Creek near 1ts Junc-
tion with Kettle River, Here, a few mlles east of the
glte of modern Hinckley, it would Join the military road
. from Point'Douglas to Lzke Superior; In 185% the legls—
lature authorized the Opehlng of & territorlal road over

the route, It was opened the followlng year, the.gréater‘

28, Laws, 1854, p. 43, 1855, p. Fi; SL. Aathony Ex-
pregs, April 15, 39, September &, 18545 plnnesots Demo~
crat, April 19, 1854; Dally iMinnesotiszn, July 11, 13854,
The St. Anthony Exoress for April 15, 1854, notes that
the commlssloners were layling out the road, wihich con-
nected with the mllitary road twenty~four miles from St.
Antbony. The route is described es belng seven milles
shorter than the existing road, and requiring only twelve
miles of new constructlon, the balance following old
roads, The Expresg for September 9, 1854, however, com-
plained of the lack of informatlon about the road, and
. wlshed to know whether or not the commissloners had
actually located it. The commiseloners were charged
with having been negligent in the perforuwance of thelr
dutlee, "for an avenue of communlcatlon so lmportant to
the interests of St. Anthony, ougbt by no means to have
been neglectsd," The Dally Minnesotlen for July 19,
1854, alsoc complained of the slowness 1n openlrng the
road,
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portion of the cost being paid by St., Paul cltizens, 29
The -frontler communitles of St. Cloud, Sauk Rapids,’

and Little Falls werc as eager to establish contact with

thaiiregion which 50 many. believed would soon develop

‘into a great port of entry for ¥innesota~bound lmml-

éfants and goods as were St, Paul and St., Anthony.

Their sentiments were expressed by Judge Bradley L.

Meéker in the summer of 1855, when he outlined what he
' thought were the mlnimum requiremente for transportation

" facllities in the uppcr country.

Ve want a broad tread, people's road built {to
the head of Lake Sunerlor] by the way of Mille Laec,
branching at that polnt down Rum River to Anoka,
and towards Morrlson at the mouth of Crow Wing.

At this place (Sauk Raplds) it would intersect
the military road now about completed from Polnt
Douglass [glc] to Fort Ripley; and croselng herc a
branch should pasg down through the river countles
on the west side, by St. Cloud and Montlcello,
Minaeapolls and Fort Snelllng. Another branch
should pass off southerly in the direction of Fort
Ridgely, penetrating the rich country drained by
the two branckes of the Crow River, whilst another
ghould siretch away norihwesterly towards the Blg
Bend of the Missouri. . . . We must have a road
. from the Great Lake to our interior.

The road to Lake Superlor, because of its directness,

would, he felt, be ideal for a railroad, "the first

gection of the grand Northern Emlgrant Route to the

Pecific,!. Judge Meeker thought that the natlonal gov-

29. Dally Minnesotlan, Aprll 14, December 8, 1855;

"Dally Minnesota Pioneer, Aoril 24, May 23, 34, 1835;

Deily Pionecer and Democrat, April 12, 1857, The lat-
ter article 1temlzes the cost of the old bridge over
the Rice Lakes which had been repalred in 1856, The
cost was largely met by glfts of buslnessmen of St,
Paul, end by a contribution of §$300 from Ramsey County.
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ernment'could.be induced to approPriaﬁé $30,000 for-the
conspruction of the road, and this, he was sﬁfe, would
be ample for the purpose, 80 |
_Judée Meeker gtirred up not bnly the people of tle
upper couniry, but those of St, Anthony as wasll, The
editor of the St. Anthony Express pieaded with his
readers to "go up and not down to buy our stores. Open
& new inlet for lmmigration --.a new route for pleasure
travelers, and then staﬂd by end see the rush,' At the
game time, Clement H, Beauiieu, a trader at Crow Wing,
gave loud publlcity to the necessity for a road ffom
Lake Superior-to Crow Wing "in supplying the various
mllitary posts in the north of Minnesota® as well as
providing an entry for supplies for the lumﬁering indus-
try already being developed, That fall a group of Sﬁ.
Cloud property owners, led by George F, Brott, principal
promoter of the town, explored a route which passed
along the northern shore of Mille Lacs, then turned esst-
ward to Join the Pqiht Douglas-St, Louls River military
road. - A short time later a member of the terrltorial
leglsleture, Willlem Sturgls of Little Falls, marked
out a route from hils home fo Mille Lacs, where it joined
the road laild out by Brotp. He was followed by still
another road-locafing‘party, one led'by_Anson Northup,

which leid out a road from Crow Wing to the Brott road,

30, St. Anthony Express, July 7, 1855.



By the time winter éetrin; therefbfe, a route had been
establishgd from Superlor to Hille Lacs, with brancheéi‘
to Crow Wing, Little Falls, and St, Cloud, The enthug~
lastic backers of these routes obtained the.passage of
an act in 1858 1egalizing the roads and décléring them
to be térritorisl roads. Equally enthusiae£i¢ supporters
of the movement at Superior provided iiberalxcontribufloné
of men, money, and suppiles, and bégan to bﬁild the
eastern portion, while perties from St. Cloud, Little
Falls, and Crow Wing began work on thelr sections of 1t,
ard by the end of March a passable road had been opened
from Lake Superior to the Mississippl River, 31 : >
The opening of this road troubied St; Paul busliness-
men, for, 1f the capltal was to retaln its domination
over the other.tpwns of Minnesota, if had to retain a
lead 1n the development of lts transportation facilities,
‘The Kettle River road did not provide a satisfactory
summer outlet to the Lake Superior country, for much of
the éountry through which 1t was built was swampy, and |
édnétruction'was'difficﬁlt.and eXpénsive, The swamps
were smalllobstacles o] wiﬁter travél, but S5t. Paulltes
wanted an all-year-round road. In the early spring of
1856 a road was opened from Bayfield, Wisconsih,.through
3l. St. Anthonj Express, August 25, December 1, 8,
15, 1855, April 12, 1858; Dally Ploneer and Democrat,
November 8, 30, 1855, Jsnuary 5, z2, February 12, April
4, 1888; Dally iilnnesotlen, August 234, 1855; Sauk Rapldg

Frontierman, 3September 25, October 3, 1B56; laws, 1358,
p. 136, e :
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the lake region of northwestern Wisconéin to the mille
tafy roed at Taylor's Faiis; On N§Vembér 20, 1858, B
regular mall-stage serfice was begun over this route.
The stage ran but twice e month, but it provided a con~
nection with territoriel Minnesota. OSt. Paul was warned
to be prepared to recelve an overwhelmlng flood of im-
migrants by this new route the followlng éeason, for
Bayfield, not Superlor, 1t was predicted, would hence~
forih be the favored port on the lake, The road was
- bullt &t an expense of thousends cof dollars, sald one
resident of Bayfleld, and 1t was entirely Ya privste
effeir; asslistance has neither been received nor asked
for from other quarters. 52 |
The discussion about these roads through north-
easﬁérn ¥innesotza focused attention on a wide area of
_ virgin timber and reputedly rich farming lands, but the
 finencilel difficulties in the way of bullding good
roads through thls area were great, The leglslature
of 1856 asked Congress to approprilate funds for the con-
struction of the rosd from St, Paul to Kettle River on
the grounds thet it offered a direct route to Leke Supe-
rior. When their prsyer was unsnswered in 1856, they
erpeated 1t in 1857, and edded a request for funds to
construct a military road from Pigeon River, on the
nortﬁern boundery, to Fond du Lac, and thence westward;

33, Daily Pionecry and Democrei, November 30, 185F,
June 4, August 23, November 17, 1856, March 23, 1857.
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over the Brott route, to Mille Lacs and Fort Ripley.
This request also was denled, 35

~ Other areas, too, were calling for .the attention
of the road makers of territorisl Minnesota. The Red
River Valley long had attracted the tradert's fancy, for
out of it came the great annual caravens of the gettle-
ment at Pemblna, laden with furs and hides, A militery
road up the cast bank of the Misslssippi River made
éasier the ;6ng and difficuit Journey as fer as Fort
Ripley. Beyénd_that polnt, however, the travelers
st1ll had to depend.entirely upon the rodgh natural
roads made by the caravens, and these at best were une
satisfactory. James M. Goodhue from his first appear—.
ance in St. Paul had recognlzed the commercilal impor-
tanée:of this region, and Governor Ramsey had pleaded
for the development of its trade in his first message
to the legislature. In 1853 the editor of the St. Paul

'MinneSOtian made lavish estimates of the commerclal sd-

ventages which would accrue to st. Paul by the construc-
tlon of a road over the dry and practicable route from

Fort Snelling westward to the Red River. The rosd wes

33. Lews, 1856, p. 373, 1857, regular session, p.
293, 394, Even in 1854 the leglslature hsd dreamed of
‘tapplng thie great interior country. At that time a
memorlal to Congress asked for an avpropriation for
the construction of a road from st, Psul, by way of
Little Cansda and the western branch of the Sunrise Riv-
er 1n Chlesgo County, to & point on the Rum River in
the southwestern portion of vhat today 1s Isantl Coun-
ty. Lzws, 1854, p, 164,
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" not bullt during the territorial period, but 1n 1858
the legislature authorized the Opening-of a road from
Fort Rlpley to-a point on the Red River bpposite the
mouth of the Pembina River, and tke éame gesslon adopt—
ed a ﬁemorial asking for a federal approprilation for
“its cqnstruction. In 1856 the 1egi§1ature agked Con-
gress for an appropriation to open a road on the west
side of the Misslssippl River from Fort Snelling to
Pemblna, Nelther pétition was directly granted, but
Congress dld grant an eppropriatioa for the removal of
timber along the Red River road fram Crow Wing to the
Red River, 34

A roed from 5t. Cloud to the Red River trail in
the upper part of the Sauk Valley was drdered opened
by the legislature of 18565, In 1856 this road was eXe
tended to the Réd River, at the mouth of the Bols des
Sloux River, and thence to Pembina, That same year
an independent group from Henderson did its part io
open a way to the Red River Valley by establishing &
road'from'Henderson to the mouth of the Bois des Sioux
River by way of Glencoe, Hutchinéon, and Red Cedsr Is;
land Leke in Kendiyohl Coﬁnty, It was reported that
-Jogceph Rolette of Pemblna would send his caravan of
Red River carts that way in 1856, and the prediction
was made that the new road would become Tthe moét in-

34, Ante, p. 69, 97; Weekly Minnesotlsn, August 6,
1853; Laws, 1855, p. 51, 182, 1856, p. 208, 360, ‘
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-5 portant thoroughfare in the Territory."' However, no -
‘record of Rolettels traln pessing over thls route has

been found, end 1t 1s doubtful thet the road became a

popular one, 35

During the early years of the fifties the greater -
portion of the roads authorized by the legislature-had.-
been operied in the southeastern portion of the territory,
After 1855 an 1ncreasingly large proportion of road leg=’
1é1at10n-was devoted to tke openlng of roasds ln the
western and southwestern portions. The seesion of 1886,
for instance, ordered four roads lsid out from St. Cloud
~- 1o Lac qui Parle, %o Fores£ G1ty, to Leke Traverse
and beyond to Fort Unlon, and to Long Prairie, A road
té.connect the frontier forts -- Ripley and Ridgely ~-
was also ordered opened; and a hosi of roads were author-
1zed for the reglon between these points and the Minne-
6ot and Misslssippl rivers to the south, It was during
thece years that the settlements in the Blg Wogds area
between the Minnesota and Misslsslippl rivers were being
made., Settlers 1n'the'§ort1bn of the territory east

of the Minnesota already had assumed the éomplacent

_attitude of;thb elder brother toward these struggling

36

It was the territorial 1egislaturm which authorized

- 35, Laws, 18““ Pe 141 1856, p. 132; Daily Ploneer -

end Democrat June S 18“6

‘26, Laws, 1 8q6 P- 123-132, 137-139, 143, 144, 147,



the opening of these roads, but little‘of'the total
coat of doing so was borns by the territory. In a few
cases where a road pessed through country which was not
yet orgenized into countles, or whore white population
was too sparse to pay for 1éying it out, the 1egisiature
did provide that the territorial tressurer should pay
the costs, This was true, for example, in thc case of
the roed extending from the foot of Lake Pepin to the
Minnesotea River, which was authorlzed_in 1852, but the
totel of euéh expenditures apparently was not great.
The terrltory spent aporoyimately $1,400 for laying out
roads up to 185F, but in t ¢ last part of the territori-
. 81 period, the leglslature took advantage of every op-
_portunity to avold any such expense, For.exampie, the
laws authorlzing the opening of territorlal roads from
. 8t. Clovd, Little Falls, and Crow Wing to Mllle Lacs,
and'tﬁence to l.ake Superior, merely empowered the men
who had exélored the routes to deposit coples df:the.
plats of the foutes-with tae officers of the countles
through which the roads passed, and declared the roads
to be territorisl roads. No éttempt wes made to com-

pensate any of them for the work they had performed, 37

3%7. The reports of the territv orial enditor show
~that the followling items were expended for laying out
roedg: in 1850, $481.F0; in IBRL, $88,50; in 18R3, §$638;
in 1855, $197. 43, The auditor's xeports are contained
in Counhil Journsls, 18F1, p. 189, 1853, p. 1863, 18F3,
p., 163-166, 1854, ,ppenajx, 29, 18=6 apnenalx, 1
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| The countles assumed the greater proportion of uhni
expense of laying out roads and constructing them, Not
only did they pay the cost of leylng out territorial
roads, bub that-of-openingrsuch roads os the commlssion-
era of the counties deemed necessary, How lafge this
ltem of expeﬁee wae in comparison with the other eﬁ~
penses of:county governmznt s difficult to determine,
but 1t wae an appreclable proportlon of county outlay,
In Fillmore Counfy, for example, the total county ex-
pensee for foeds and ﬁridges for 1857.approx1mated
82,475 of a total county exmendlture of about $15, ?30,
or a little less than one--sixth, The 1argest single
tten in this expenditure for roads was for brildges,
which_acceunted for $1,455. The reﬁaindef of the costs
for-roeds 1neluded expenditures for locatling roads,
totaling $31%, Ffeaes for technical services -- surveyors,
ehainmen, end axmen -- amounting to $320, and the sal-
aries pold to road euoervisors, which totaled $385, In
Winona County the total expenditure for rosds and
bridges for the twenty-month period from Jenuary, 1857,
to Septembsr, 1858, amounted to abeut 42,780, while
during the five years from 1854 to 1853 the total amount
expended for this purpose was about $3,700, How many
miles of road wcre constructed during the terrlitoriel
perlod in these countles 1s llkewlse unknown, but
Houstpn County, which sdjoins Winona and Fillmore

counties,-was reported to have a totel of §,400 mlles
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of road in 1858, end the totalfin.these other counties
could not have been much less. 38
When e county or the territory failed to open
roads to provide mall and stage service for a commuﬁlty
or to enhance 1ts posltion as a market center, contribu-
tions were sought from businessmen znd other public-
splrited cltizens to ralse the necessary funds, ths ex~
penditure of which was entrusted to one of thelr number
or to a committes of cltlzens, The Dodd road, which
was bullt in 1853 from Traverse des floux to St. Paul,
wes financed in thls way, During the same year s
bridge on the road from Kaposla to St. Paul fell into
such a etnte of disrepalr that 1t was unsafe for use,
When the county falled to repelr it, St. paul merchants
ralsed seventy-five or elghty Gollare in five-dollar |
contritutions to fihance the work., St. Anthony mer-
chants 1n 1854 rzised money in the same way to bulld
s road to Leke Minnetonka, and a commlttee of business-
men supervised the construction of the road by the con-
tractor; In the fall of 1857 the Lucinessmen of Wlnona,
rebelling egalnst the intolerable condition of the road
leading to Stockton, donated more than §4,000 to bulld

a new road which led on an easy gradlent up the hill

23. Chatfield Democrat, January 87, 1858; ¥inops Re-
"publican, Octover 37, 1858; Hekah Chief, September 25,
185 ‘ : .

(.D
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“to the pralrie beyond., 39
-Soﬁétiﬁes the 1ébor of bullding é new road'mas
performed by the cltizens themselves, During the summer
of 1é53 the people on the west side of the Mississippl
River sppesled to the oltizens of St. Paul to help them
build s rosd to St. Paul, The people along the Zumbro
River, twenty-five miles lnlend Irom Red Wing, had
trouble finding a passable road to the latter place. Tc
‘help solve their difficulties, the people of Red Wing
turned out in & body to construct a road from Red Wing-
te the Zumbro settlement, There were also occasionai
public—épirited'men 1ikc John Morgan, proprletor of the
'Halfway House on the road from St, Paul to Stillwater,
who cut & road around éhe swamp near hls hostelry and
built s bridge over a brook neer by, "making that part
df the Stillwater road very good.," 40
In view df the overwhelming number of new roads.

that the frontier needed, 1t 1ls not surprisins that
. private contributions or voluntary labor on the part of
citlizens should have supplemented the labor tax which
the law required, A statement by a roed supervisor in
Houéton County illustrates the'essential weakness of

39. gggg, D 64;(M1nnesota Pioneer, December 29,
1853; St. Anthony Express, October 1, November 12,
Dgcember 17, 1853%; ¥inona Republican, August 35, Septem-
ber 1, 8, Novembar 8, December 23, 18587,

40, Minnesgota Ploneser, July &8, 22, 1883; Dally Minne-

sotian, July 36, 1384; Dally Ploneer gnd Democrat, May
- 20, *1888; ilnnescta Democrat, June 17, 18h1.
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~ the statute labor method of bullding roads, An impor-

' 7 tent road from Hokah to the Mississippl River needed
repalring, but, since “there_islnot at present any road
tax to be worked out," he czlled for volunteers to do °
‘the work,. After the’reguired labor tax was pald and the

~ 1imited road and bridge fund was eipended, there was
no way of getting work done except by volunteef.workers,
or by workers pald by private donationse' The resldents
of McLeod County 1n 1855 were almost desperate for
roads, but they were not able to constrﬁct those already
laid out, The Crow River Valley; north and west of_Glen—
coe, was in a simlilar predlcament, By doing only what
was requlred to enable wagons to pass through the fofesis,
‘& road to Montlcello was opened in the summer of 1856,
In the face of criticlsm from incoming settlels, those
on hand labored féverishly to open tralills tou comwrurities
on established roads or on navigable streams, The over-
burdened road supervisor bore the brunt of £he criti-
cism; sometimes the fault was his, but 1t cannot be
denied that his task was an onerous-ohe. The frontier
settlers were poor, and the aversion to heavy taxation

was acute, 41

41, Post, p. 2232, 228; Hokeh Chief, September 18,
1858; St Paul Dailx Timca, November 9 December 5,
1855 Minnesots Democrat, July 11, August 4, 1855, June
28, 1856 Minnesota Ploneer, May 6 1852, July 81, 1853;
: Weeklj hinnesot*en, May 28, June 25 July 2, December 5,
1853, June 25, 1858; Winona Renublichn, June 23, 1857;
Daily Plonger and Democrat June 27, 1856/ April 5,
1857; Delly Minnesots g;oneer, March,l4 1655. K. K.




168

Opening roeds in Mlnnesota was made urgent by many
factors, and of these the demand for regular and fre-
Quent delivery of maii,was of major importance., In
1849, when the territory had a pooulation of less than
5,000, frequent mall deliveries scarcely could have
been expected, Yet, the settlers in the St. Croix Val-
loy demanded better mall service during the fall of
1848, and futlle attempts were made to obtaln meil
facllities for the trading posts in the Mlsslsslipnl
Valley and for Pembina, At the openlng of the ter-
ritorial period there was one main mail route, which
extehded frem Pralrie du Chien up the Missiséipoi River
to Minnesota. The service was at first gemimonthly,
but in 1849 weekly mail service during the summer months
was lnaugurated. A request by Goodhue for additional
service wae denled, be&ause, the postmaster general re-

Jled, even under the woeekl lan, the recelots amounted
P ’ : p ’ I

Peck of Le Sueur in a letter to Sibley dated December 3,
18%3, asked for information to zssist in leying out &
road to connect hls settlement with the Doda road, This
letter 1s in the Siblsy Paners, The article in the Dallv
Times for Nevember 9, 1855, refers to opposition on the
part of Carver County cltlzens to a heavy burden of tax-
ation, of which a large proportion wss occasioned by

an extensilve road-building program, The Minnesotisn for
December 3, 1853, containe an extensive arralgnment of
the conduct of the local roead supervisor, who, by ir-
regular procedure 1n allowlng the commutatlon of the
poll tax at a lesser rate than the law requlred, had 1ln-
periled tne whole road building snd repalring program .
of the county., The article complained that because of
these irregularities people would neither ray the com-
mutatlon mwoney nor perform lsbor on the roads.
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to only a fdurth of the-éxpenditures. dedhue wés bit-~
ter about the lack of mail facilities., YNo mall to Long
.hvadow," he 1amented, "no mall to Crow w1ng, no mail to
Fort Gaines, no; not even to St. Anthony. . . . We have
no malls up the Salnt Peters, . . . The villages‘of the
Seint Croix are destitute of maiis,“ 42

In the fall of 1850 the number of routes serving
Minnesota was lncreased to seven, extending to most of
the_areas then settled, and by 1854 there weré~twenty—
. five duly authorilzed routes in the territory. By the
end of the territorial perlod approximately & hundred
routes were in use, but the expansion of the mail gervice
wag far behind the expansion of settlement and 1ts 1n—
adeguacj was one of the mejor complalints of the territo~
 r1é1‘éettlers. For a major portion of the territory,
thé'distributioﬁ of the mail-necessitated the uée of
land routes. At first, it was possible te dellver mall
on horseback, as the contractor for mall delivery be-
tween St. Paul and Stillwater did during the éummer of
1852, but soon the volume of mall was much. 5rcater then
could be sccommodated on the back of = horse, wnich
perforce, must also bear a rlder, Hence, there arose
‘tbe necessity for the construction of roeds upon which

the mail carrier could drive a mall conveyance, 43

43, Minnescote Pioneef, Avgust 18, 1849, Januery 23,
1850, '

43, Arthur J. Larsen, "Roada end Trells in the iinne-
- sote Triangle, 184860, " in Minnesota History, 1l: 329-401
(December, 1930); Minnecota piloneer, October 7, 18F2,
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From the very beginning of the.perioﬁ,-;he prob-
lem of mall delivery wae bound up with another service
coveted by frontiersmen, The lendlocked interlor hed
to have a means for the conveyande of trevelers, and to
fill this néed fhe stegecoach éppeared‘upon tﬁe'Minnef
sota scene. It seldoﬁ was profitable for-a man to conw
tract to cover long dlstences with the mall at regular
intervals, He had an opportunity to profi£ only if he
combined tke delivery of mall with some other enter-
prise, and the 1ogical.comb1natiop was that of mall de-
livery wlth passenger and express service, Moreover,
1f undertaken singly, they involved a duplication of
necessary services., Too often, however, the comblnation
was not on an equal basls, the mall service suffering
in favor of tﬁe.passenger traffic -- if one interprets
sériously the references tb mell bags which were throﬁn
off in order that more passengers might be carried, 44

The first regular mall-stezge llne 1n Minnesole wes
put in operatlion during the spring of 1849 between St.
Paul and Stillwater by Robert Kennedy, who, on May 6,
announced the opening of a triweekly stage line between
the two places, During that summer he carried the mall

wlthout compensation from the goverament, During 10409

44, See, for example, a letter signed "Tamarack!
in the Lally Pioneer and Democrst for April 10, 1856,
and an article entltled "Our Present Mall Arrangements,"

.in the 1sgue of the same paper for December %, 18R7,
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FRONTIER STAGECOACHES .
[From a photograph in the possession of
the Minnesota Historical Soclety. ]






171

& stsge line was opensd between St. Anthony and St,
Paul, end here, too, the proprietor of the stage line
carried the mall free, A'regulaf stage line was'put
into operation between St, Peul srd Prairle du Chien
after the close of navigatlon on the Misslssippl River
in the fgll of that year by the mall contractor over
the route. Others followed 1n different parts of the
territory as rapldly as mail routes were asuthorized and
settlement begun, At the beglnnlng of 1852 John ¥,
Corbett and Company of St. Paul bought Charles W, W,
Borup's mall contract over the route from St, Paul to
Crow Wirg and put a weekly stage into operstion. In
tie Loate summer of 1853 a mall-~ctsge scrvice between
.ét. Paul and Fort Ridgely was begun. The Frink and
Walker mall-stage line between St, Paul and Dubugue on
thé Elllota road wes started in August, 1854, aﬂd that
fall a‘mail—passenger gervice between St. Paul and
Superlor was lnaugurated over the rough trail chopped
through the woods of the nbrth country, A tendency for
ons firm to monopolize mall contracts and stage lilnes
early beczme evident, and the rise of the Minnesotla
Stage Company, hesded by James C. Burbank and hls as~
goclates, constitutes the outstanding example of such
monopoly. By the end of the territorisl period this
firm had ousted the Frink and Welker Company, aﬁd in
1885 it was reported to be o?erating over slxtesen hun-

éred miles of routes, employing a vast army of statlon
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men, drivers, and stablemen. .

 The stagecoach was a potent.factor in the opening
and 1mprovin5 of frontier roads, To feclilitate the
arrival of the stegecoach, the people of the inlend
regilons of Minnesote ezgerly opened trzlls which they
improved as opportunity and finances permitted, and the
stagecoach companles themselves were road makers., The
road from Elllota to St, Paul by wey of Rochester and
Cannon Falls, for example, was opened by the employees
of the firm of Frink and Walker, in co-operation with
tkhe few settlers along the way. Other instances of the
Initiative of stagecoach companles are recorded, Ths
Minnesota Stage Comﬁany, for example, in the closing
months of the territorial period, planned a stage route
from St. Cloud, up the Sauk River Valley, to Fort Aber-
¢romble on the Red River, The leglslature of 18%6 had
authorized the openlng of a road along this route, and,
indeed, one had been laid out, When it came time for
the lnauguration of the stage service, however;, no
adequatoe road had becn made, Captain Russell Blekeley,

45, Minnesota Ploneer, May 18, August 21, 1842, July
18, 1850, September 29, November 3, 18F3; Minnesota Demo-
crat Janunry 21, 18KFz; St, Antqony Exnres June 24,
18%4, Robert Kennedy to Sibley, March 12, July 17, 18%0,
in Bibley Papers; Larsen, in Minnesota Histq_y, 11' 401--
405; Larsen, "The Northwestern Express and Transporta-
tion Company," in MNorth Dskots Historical Quarterly, 6:
43-54 (October, 1931}; Luelle Swenson, "Stsge Cosching
Days 1in Minnesota," 3. The latter 1s a term paper pre-
pared in 1927 for a course in Minnscsota hlstcry at

Hamline Unlversity, S5t. Paul. The Minnesote Hlsgtorical
- Soclety has e copy. ' : ‘
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then general managef of the company, detéiled a road- -
. making crew to cpen a foad suifable for_the passage of
the stage. The road was not perfect, but it was prac-—
ticable, and Ever 1t the Red River stages of the com-
pany.qlattered and bumped thelr way for more than a |
decade, In the fall of 1858 the same company, which .
hed the mail contrsct over the route from St, Paul to
La Crosse, spent $3,000 in improving the road between
Wabesha and Winona, George Nettletcn, one of the pro-
- prietors of Superlor, Wisconsln, and the owner of the
stége line, was cmong the mos£ active of the workers
who cut the winter stage road from Superior to Taylor's
Fells 1n 1854, Thus, people and stage men worked to=
gether to promote intercourse, and to do thst, they had
to.bﬁild roadg over which heavy ctagecoaches coulld be
drawn &t & reasonably rapld rate, without undue dls-
comfort to thke traveler, 46
The opening of rosés meant much to the inhabltants
of the outposts of clvlilizatlon: the promoters éf fron-
tier towns boasted of thelr location at crossroads;
the opening of a mall route was an event of prime 1mpor;
tance; the srrivsl of'a.regularly scheduled stagecoach:
wag an occasion for ~enulne rejolicing, The neWSQépers
of the territoriel nerlod are filled with glowlng descrlp-

tions of boom towns which, mushroon-llke, were springing

45, Larsen, in Kinresots History, 11: 407; Primmer,
in Minnesotz History, 18: 283, ‘ '




into existence, and rarely is such a description fouad
which does.not boast of the "remarkable" facilitles for
dommunication which the tqwn*affor&ed. Inedequate and
poorly made as the roads were, éhey.carried the life
blocd of the frontler, Where iwo important rosdse cross-
ed, thero a town was sure to Spring UDs -Where'tfavelers
erossed & river on a ferry, an enterprising promoter
would-soon fourd a town, Wherever facllities for com~
 munlcetion exlsted, or could be made, the growth of
pqpulation'and the progrcss of cetilement quickened.
Without roads, the struggling ;Iilages of the Minnesota
frontier. could not endurc lcng; with roads, even the
most insignificant-of them might somelday hope to at-
tain a positlon of prime commnerclal importance among

its neighbors. 47

47, Lerecn, in Minnesota History, 11: 397-399.
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